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INTRODUCTION


There was a time when Coventry enjoyed a spotlight all of its own on the national stage. One of England’s biggest and wealthiest cities, it had hosted more than one parliament and was effectively the seat of royal government for more than a year. Its celebrated cycle of mystery plays attracted crowds from counties around, while its equally famous city wall kept Coventrians safe when others suffered in troubled times.


Coventry’s golden age was over long before Henry VIII’s attack on the monasteries tore the heart out of the city, but the shine from that dimming spotlight lingered on.


England remembered the tale of saintly Godiva and the city’s place in myth as birthplace of the legendary St George, patron saint and dragon-slayer. Shakespeare sprinkled the city’s name through more than one of his plays, and true as Coventry blue, first coined to describe a dye that never ran, entered the language as a colourful way of admiring constancy. At Christmas people sang the Coventry Carol, a haunting refrain to loss, set in a biblical frame. At New Year, children were given Coventry god cakes as a special blessing from their godparents. They played card games like Peeping Tom or Moll of Coventry and in summer they picked the flowers of Coventry Bells, the popular name for the campanula.


Coventry gradually became a byword for quaint, a place of hallowed customs celebrated beneath the spires and gables of past glories as the world hammered away towards industrial revolution. In an age of machines it was still lost in a midsummer dream of crafts and guilds, until a farm boy from Sussex added the delicate skills of making bicycles to those other intricate crafts of watches and ribbons. In the dying years of the nineteenth century, his legacy spawned the first factory in Britain set up to make the motor car, a revolution in personal transport that changed the way we all lived.


Faced with trying to make this new industry fit into an old way of doing things and a medieval street pattern, Coventry became the only city in Britain to jump straight from the late Middle Ages into the twentieth century. Over the decades to come it was to reflect all the themes of the new century – rapid industrialisation, mass immigration, boom and slump, even total war. What emerged in 1945 was a different place, a city of the working man, by turns inventive and listless, that had not quite caught up with itself. But as one of the engineering dynamos of Britain it had a place back on the national stage.


Its pioneering Festival of Britain architecture, so widely admired in the post-war years, has managed to overshadow Coventry’s remaining heritage in wood and stone and somehow erase the collective memories of the place, stretching back almost a millennium. This is the story of that 1,000 years, full of colour and incident but sadly little known at a time when the national spotlight has again moved away. For all that, it is a story worth telling.




one


IN THE BEGINNING


In August of 1793, The Gentleman’s Magazine, in its monthly digest of news from the provinces, reported an event of no little historical curiosity from Coventry.


Its correspondent ‘Explorator’ announced that he had two pots containing nearly 2,000 Roman coins, recently unearthed on the Bullester Field Farm in the neighbouring parish of Foleshill. And he went on to describe an earlier discovery, right in the heart of the old town: ‘In the last summer the street in Coventry called Broadgate was opened to a depth of five or six feet when a regular pavement was discovered, and upon that pavement a coin of Nero.’


He added that it all gave further strength to his theory that a Roman road, linking the known Roman centres of Mancetter and Warwick, ran straight through where Coventry now stood. But could it also be evidence of a long-lost Roman settlement, from which the modern town of weaving and clock-making had sprung?


It appears not. More than 200 years later there is still no positive evidence of Roman occupation in what was to become Coventry. The pavement those eighteenth-century diggers discovered was almost certainly a floor of medieval origin and despite a string of finds by archaeologists, some made very recently indeed, proof that the Romans set up some kind of settlement in Coventry is still as frustratingly difficult to pin down as it ever was.


In some senses, this might seem surprising. In an area very close to the intersection of two major Roman roads – with Watling Street (now the A5) only nine miles away and the Fosse Way (A46) just six – we might expect there to be a settlement in such a well-watered and well-wooded area, where tradition suggests there had been an ancient trackway over the River Sherbourne, dating back into prehistoric times.


There’s evidence nearby of occupation before the Romans arrived. A substantial settlement of fourteen Iron Age roundhouses was found on the University of Warwick campus, on the southern edge of the city, during work to lay a new university running track in 2002. The roundhouses probably dated from the third century BC.
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Archaeologists working in Coventry city centre in 2006 found a Roman ditch. (Coventry City Council)


What are believed to be boundary ditches from Romano-British farmsteads emerged from two further modern development sites to the east, during construction of the city’s North-South Road (1987) and a new cinema site on the Cross Point business park (1991). As recently as 2006, archaeologists working on the Coventry University site off Priory Street in the city centre came across a ditch and scattered finds that might well have come from another farmstead.


However, the first-century Lunt Fort at Baginton, and the civilian settlement that grew up around it, are the only significant Roman remains to have been discovered in the immediate vicinity of Coventry. From the fort ramparts, reconstructed in the early 1970s, the modern city centre can be seen to the north, some four miles off.
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The gateway of the Lunt Fort, reconstructed in the 1970s. (CV One/Coventry City Council)


First evidence of Roman occupation at Baginton began to emerge in the early 1930s, when extensive gravel-working around the edges of the village turned up large quantities of pottery, dating from the first to the third century, and other artefacts that suggested a military occupation there too.


Excavations in the summer of 1960 made the first discoveries of what turned out to be a sequence of military camps. The earliest of these are dated AD 60–61, when the Roman governor of Britain, Gaius Suetonius Paulinus, brought the rebellious Boudica, Queen of the Iceni, to her final reckoning.


That bloody and decisive engagement may well have taken place somewhere near Mancetter, more than twenty miles away at the northern edge of Warwickshire. It is believed that The Lunt was constructed by a unit of auxiliaries to deal with the many horses captured from the rebels by the victorious Roman army. Certainly the Gyrus, or horse-training corral, is its most important feature. No other quite like it has been found in the whole of the Roman Empire.
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The Baginton Bowl. (Herbert Collections)


The Lunt was abandoned within twenty years, but the Roman army was back around AD 260 to build a further, short-lived fortification on the same site, and the civilian settlement that grew up around it continued long after the army had moved on.


It is that settlement that provides arguably the clearest archaeological link in this part of the country between the Roman and the Anglo-Saxon periods; the quarrying that churned up the village in the 1930s also disturbed an extensive Saxon cemetery, and bequeathed to us an extraordinary item found in one of the graves. The Baginton Bowl, a bronze hanging bowl dating from the sixth or seventh century and now on display in Coventry’s Herbert Museum, is the most notable Saxon artefact so far discovered in Warwickshire.


Place names around what has become the modern city of Coventry suggest a steady advance for Saxon settlement right across the area. Allesley, Keresley, Corley and Binley, for example, are all Old English names, in notable contrast to Rugby and Princethorpe to the east, for instance, which betray clear Scandinavian roots.


The ‘ley’ word-endings of many of those Saxon place names, denoting a clearing in woodland, point to the looming presence of the legendary, now almost supernatural, Forest of Arden.


Coventry stands at the fault line between the great forest, stretching away to the west and north of the city, and the Feldon, a more open landscape of heath and rich pastureland to the south and east. There’s evidence that Arden as a dense, continuous woodland, of the sort beloved by big screen outlaws, had already receded by Roman times, but the Saxon settlers and farmers who followed clearly still associated their new homeland with tree-clearing, and places like Allesley and Keresley are still classified as part of Coventry’s ancient Arden landscape.


So where in all of this did the city itself get its name?


Over the past century of scholarship there have been a number of theories. At one time a connection with the Roman water goddess Coventina was thought likely. Another school of thought ascribed the name to a description of physical features of the site, principally a hillside and a cave.


But the balance of support has more recently settled around another sort of landscape feature – a tree employed either as a sacred object of veneration itself or as a boundary marker for lands held by a local Saxon landowner named Cofa.


While the use of trees as boundary markers was widespread in Saxon England, we have no idea who Cofa might have been. No information about an individual who may be a key figure in the story of Coventry has come down to us. It is just another example of the shadowy nature of the city’s beginnings.
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Woodland at Tile Hill, part of Coventry’s ancient Arden landscape. (Chris Ross)


Tradition, that long-established and widely quoted source that stands somewhere between rumour and evidence, identifies a female antecedent as the earliest known person with Coventry connections.


Her name was Osburga (or Osburg in modern parlance). She was in religious orders and one version of the story describes her as one of the famed sisters of Barking in Essex who left the security of their house around 675 to found other monastic settlements. She was later canonised.


[image: Book title]


Carved sandstone from an ecclesiastical building dated to around AD 1000. (Coventry City Council)


Osburga was abbess, it is said, of a nunnery established close to the River Sherbourne, somewhere in the Hill Top area of modern Coventry. This foundation, possibly with a small church included in it, was the earliest evidence of settlement in Coventry.


Reference to a nunnery at Coventry appears in some fly-leaf jottings on a bound set of anonymous sermons, dating from the late fourteenth century: ‘In ancient times on the bank of the river called by the inhabitants Sherbourne, which flows right through the city of Coventry, there was formerly a monastery of young women dedicated to God.’


St Osburg herself remains an enigma, a virgin saint about whom very little is known, but the fate of her nunnery is perhaps a better known element of this old story. It was destroyed, the chroniclers wrote, in 1016 when a Danish army led by Cnut and the English traitor Eadric Streona ravaged Warwickshire.


Historically, this is not beyond the bounds of possibility. At that time Cnut was on the rampage in his ultimately successful campaign to seize the throne of England, and the Danes had long had a taste for pillaging monastic houses. Lying less than twenty miles from the Danelaw, the area of eastern and northern England over which the Danes had held sway since their treaty with Alfred the Great in 886, St Osburg’s nunnery must have been at risk more than once in the dynastic struggles that erupted from time to time in this border country.


Another distant memory of those turbulent times may indeed have lingered on in the Hock Tuesday play, performed in Coventry on the second Tuesday after Easter from around 1416 until the early years of the seventeenth century. Traditionally, the play’s origins are linked either to victory celebrations following a massacre of the Danes in England that took place in 1002, or to news of the death of the last Danish King of England, Harthacanute, in 1042.


There is no hard evidence that St Osburg’s nunnery ever actually existed, but there are intriguing pointers as to some kind of ecclesiastical presence in the Hill Top area before the eleventh century.


A section of decorated sandstone moulding found in Palmer Lane in 1937, originally believed to be part of a free-standing cross, is now thought to be a door jamb or window moulding from an ecclesiastical building, dating from around the year 1000. A burial found during archaeological excavations (1999–2003) on the site of Coventry’s first cathedral was carbon-dated to 875, while a second body discovered in a grave beneath the cloister has been dated to the tenth century.


St Osburg herself has certainly lingered in the city’s collective memory. A shrine to her was established in the cathedral and her head, enclosed in copper and gilt, was listed as one of its most important relics. In 1408, the Bishop of Coventry and Lichfield, John Burghill, responding to public representations, commanded that her feast-day of 30 March was to be celebrated in the city.


Well beyond the Middle Ages, the name given to the marshy, riverine area now defined in the modern city as Pool Meadow was St Osburg’s Pool, while the most central of Coventry’s Catholic churches, with primary school attached, still bears her name.


The notion that St Osburg and her nuns were effectively Coventry’s first identified citizens is contradicted by another long-held theory as to the city’s origins. This argued that the first Saxon settlers established themselves, not around Hill Top, but on the other side of the river, on the south-facing slopes of Barr’s Hill.


William Dugdale, the seventeenth-century Warwickshire antiquarian, firmly believed that this fledgling settlement lay on those slopes and had created Coventry’s first church by the year 1003, named for St Nicholas. His was a view shared by many of the city’s Victorian historians.


In fact, St Nicholas Church first appears in the records in 1183 and for much of its history it was a dependent chapel of Holy Trinity Church on Hill Top. By 1535, a full century before Dugdale was writing, St Nicholas was ‘in decay and ruin’ and within a generation had been turned into a store house. Exactly where the church stood is now open to conjecture, although human remains from its churchyard have regularly cropped up in successive waves of redevelopment since the nineteenth century.


An opportunity to test the tradition of early settlement on Barr’s Hill came in 1965, when a cutting was driven into the hillside for an access road to serve Coventry’s new inner ring road. But archaeologists found no evidence of human habitation whatsoever and it remains just another intriguing possibility.


The modest reckoning for Coventry in the Normans’ great registry of interests, the Domesday survey, suggests that the place was scattered and rural in character at the time of the Conquest. It records a population of fifty villeins (tenants who could hold property but owed fealty, and service, to the local lord), twelve bordars (cottage holders who were often the younger sons of villeins) and seven serfs (little more than slaves) – with their families totalling around 300 people.


They were using twenty ploughs to work a significant area of arable land and they controlled a substantial area of woodland, covering about two square miles.


The consensus among historians now, however, profiles Coventry as a modest-sized settlement at the end of the Saxon period with a population of around 1,200, similar in size to the town of Warwick. There are plenty of towns known to exist at the time which do not feature at all in the Domesday survey. The ancient city of Winchester and even London itself are both examples, and the modern view is that Coventry was almost certainly the same, with merely the rural part of it recorded by inventory clerks.


There’s some evidence that this settlement may have boasted a church too. In 1022, Archbishop Aethelnoth, while in Rome to be formally installed as Archbishop of Canterbury by Pope Benedict VIII, purchased a holy relic, the arm of St Augustine of Hippo. The chroniclers say that he paid 100 silver talents and one gold talent for it and, more importantly, that on his return to England he gave it to the church in Coventry.


Whether this was a church associated with St Osburg’s nunnery or a later minster church established to serve the growing community remains a question that archaeologists might one day resolve.


However, there is no doubt that the earliest clear and unambiguous date in Coventry’s history is the year 1043, when it is recorded that Leofric, Earl of Mercia, and his wife Godgifu (Godiva to us) dedicated a house of monks with the Benedictines in Coventry.
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A sample from the Domesday Book. (THP)


Although they loom large in the story of early Coventry, neither Leofric nor Godiva could claim local antecedents. Godiva’s origins remain obscure, although a fourteenth-century charter states that she was sister to Thorold, Sheriff of Lincolnshire, and if so may well have spent her early life in that part of eastern England. As a landowner she had extensive holdings in Warwickshire, including the fledgling Coventry.


History has downplayed the importance of Leofric in the story of eleventh-century England. He was one of the triumvirate of earls (Godwin of Wessex and Siward of Northumbria were the others) who held the ring in the turbulent years that followed the end of Danish rule in England in the early 1040s.


It was Leofric who represented stability when war threatened, backing King Edward the Confessor against the claims of the over-mighty Godwin, and somehow contriving to establish a truce which saw the Earl of Wessex and his family outlawed for a time, astonishingly without a drop of blood being spilt.


While he plays a subsidiary and brutish role in the story of his wife’s legendary ride, Leofric’s contemporaries regarded him rather differently. On his death in 1057, the eulogies described him as devout and illustrious, while the Anglo-Saxon Chronicle paid simple tribute to him as ‘very wise in all matters, both religious and secular.’


Leofric was born, probably in the 990s, the third son of Leofwine, Ealdorman of the Hwicce, a Saxon tribal grouping who held sway over much of what is now Worcestershire and south Warwickshire. Both his elder brothers died in war, the eldest, Northman, at the hands of the Danish warlord Cnut, on his way to seize the throne of England in 1017.
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The nave of the Benedictines’ great church, looking west. Leofric was almost certainly buried in the modest church that preceded it. (Image courtesy of Continuum Group Ltd)
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Embodiment of a myth; the Godiva statue in Broadgate. (Chris Ross)


Yet it was the Dane to whom this shrewd and ambitious Saxon owed his advancement. Cnut clearly had a soft spot for Leofric, setting aside his usual practice of replacing Saxon nobility with Danes by making him Earl of Mercia around 1026.


When Cnut died in 1035, Leofric supported Harold Harefoot, the son of Cnut’s first wife, against his half-brother Harthacnut. It is perhaps a sign of his gifts as a diplomat that he managed to hang on to the earldom when Harthacnut succeeded to the throne five years later.


Leofric faced a test of his loyalty within months when two royal tax-gatherers were set upon and killed by angry townsfolk in Worcester, right at the heart of his own family domain. An enraged Harthacnut ordered him to burn and pillage the town and there’s every indication that he did – possibly accounting for the prominent reference to oppressive taxation in the later stories of Godiva’s famous ride.


Ten years later, it was Leofric who devised a peaceful resolution when Earl Godwin threatened rebellion against Edward the Confessor. Despite some family troubles (his son Aelfgar was outlawed in 1055) he was still one of Edward’s closest confidants when he died ‘at a good old age’ at his estate at Kings Bromley in Staffordshire in the early autumn of 1057.


He was buried, all the chroniclers agree, in a side chapel of his new abbey church of St Mary in Coventry, a foundation richly endowed with more than twenty estates, most in Warwickshire but as widely spread as Cheshire and Northamptonshire, and fabulously adorned with jewels and gold.


It may not have been the first time that Godiva had been widowed. There’s some evidence, recorded in a twelfth-century history of Ely Abbey, that she had an earlier husband who was possibly an earlier Earl of Mercia. A persistent tradition also suggests that in the late 1020s she had had an illness from which she was not expected to recover. Could this have been the cause of her first husband’s demise?


That she was beautiful and of a saintly disposition seems plausible – all the stories that emerged later agree on that point. And when she died ten years after Leofric, in September 1067, she made many bequests to churches, notably those possessing a shrine to the Virgin Mary of whose cult, a national obsession in the eleventh and twelfth centuries, she was a fervent follower.


That she rode through the town of Coventry naked, to rescue the townsfolk from taxes imposed by the ‘grim Earl’ her husband, is, however, myth.


The story, which emerged at the end of the twelfth century, owes something to the northern European pagan fertility rite that pairs in symbolic partnership a naked woman and a horse, and a lot more to inventive monks keen to promote their foundation and highlight the sanctity of this most appealing of benefactors.


[image: Book title]


Image thought to be of Godiva from an early window in Holy Trinity Church, now lost. (Coventry City Council)


Godiva’s status (she was the only female Saxon landowner to be named in the Domesday survey) would not have permitted her to make a public gesture of that kind, and in any event it is likely that she owned the estate on which the beginnings of Coventry were emerging and would therefore be entitled to any taxes raised there.


It is also true that Evesham was much closer to her heart than Coventry. The abbey there was where Godiva’s friend and confessor, Aefic, had been Benedictine prior until his death in 1038. Although there is a tradition that her final resting place was a twin chapel alongside her husband’s in their Coventry church, Evesham is where she almost certainly chose to be buried on her death in September 1067.


Almost 1,000 years later it is impossible to get any real idea of what Leofric and Godiva were like as people. A window image in painted glass from Holy Trinity Church in Coventry, now lost, was said to show him with a neat beard and short brown hair and her with long blonde tresses.


That Leofric could be the ‘grim Earl’ of popular imagining when he needed to be is self-evident. It went with power and high office in early medieval England. That Godiva, in her lifetime, acquired a reputation for good works and personal sanctity seems equally sure.


But even if they appear to us tantalisingly out of reach as real people, their decision to finance the Benedictines in establishing a house of monks at Coventry, and at the same time possibly re-founding an earlier church, was the catalyst that kick-started the place’s rise to fame and prosperity.


As the Benedictine chronicler John of Worcester, writing nearly 100 years later, put it:





He [Leofric] and his wife, the noble Countess Godgifu, a worshipper of God and devout lover of Mary, ever-virgin, built the monastery there from the foundations out of their patrimony, and endowed it adequately with lands and made it so rich in various ornaments that in no monastery in England might be found the abundance of gold, silver, gems and precious stones that was at that time in its possession.


THE GODIVA MYTH




The story of Godiva’s legendary ride first appears in an account by the chronicler Roger of Wendover at the end of the twelfth century, almost 150 years after her death. It begins:





The Countess Godiva, who was a great lover of God’s Mother, longing to free the town of Coventry from heavy bondage from the oppression of a heavy toll, often with urgent prayers besought her husband, that from regard to Jesus Christ, and his mother, he would free the town from that service, and all other heavy burdens.





It goes on to describe Leofric’s exasperated challenge, that she should ride naked from one end of the market place to the other, and follows that with a brief description of Godiva letting down her long hair, mounting her horse and, accompanied by two knights, riding through the market place with only her bare legs showing.


Once the ride had been completed, it went on, her astonished husband gave her what she wanted and confirmed it with a charter.


The last few words are significant. The story, which has many factual holes in it, may well have been planted in the mind of the chronicler by the monks of Coventry’s Benedictine priory, who at the time had been forced into exile by the monk-hating bishop, Hugh Nonant. And they were experts at forging charters to protect their own interests.


Peeping Tom, the hapless tailor struck blind for daring to take a peep at those long white legs, was a sixteenth-century invention, but the legend of saintly Godiva, freeing the townsfolk from an unjust tax levied by her husband, became embedded in Coventry imaginations. She featured regularly in the Great Fair processions of the late Middle Ages, although another character from local myth, the dragon-slaying patron saint, St George, took precedence.
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A stained-glass image from the west window of the Benedictine’s great cathedral. Could this be Godiva? (Image courtesy of Continuum Group Ltd)
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Godiva and Leofric in anguished discussion, from a 1902 painting by Frank Albert Philips. (Herbert Art Gallery)
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The 1907 Godiva procession, the biggest of them all. (Author’s Collection)


It wasn’t until 1678 that Godiva herself stepped centre stage with her own procession. This was dreamed up by commercial interests in the town, who wished to give a boost to visitor numbers in the face of an emerging Birmingham. She was played that year by a boy, the young son of one James Swinnerton, but by the nineteenth century the role was often taken by actresses, whose enthusiasm for the part among the ribaldry of the crowds often brought out senior clergy in a rash of condemnation.


Alfred Lord Tennyson went back to the chaste Godiva for his poem ‘Godiva’, written after he had made a railway excursion to Coventry in the early 1840s. Words from his poem were used on the imposing statue of Godiva, unveiled by the wife of the United States Ambassador to Britain in Broadgate in 1949.


More recently, the good lady has given her name to the Godiva Festival and to Godiva’s Day, which falls on 10 September, the supposed date of her death in 1067. Godiva’s Day celebrates selfless compassion and social justice, themes that still resonate in the modern world.


In 2012 she was brought to life as a twenty-foot high animatronic figure, making her way, by cycle-power, to London for the Olympic Games. There she represented the West Midlands region in the cultural Olympiad under the banner of Godiva Awakes.


The myth endures.







two


THE EARLY TOWN


Whatever the true scale of Coventry at the time of the Domesday Book, we know almost nothing about the lives of people we might characterise as early Coventrians. The records of how those villeins, cottagers and their families scraped a living from the land in their small settlement in the centre of England in the early years of Norman rule are simply not there.


We don’t even know whether they resisted the imposition of what must have seemed like a brutal and alien regime. Leicester, only twenty miles away, lost many of its Saxon buildings after making a stand against the Norman takeover but, although the Conqueror himself was said to have passed through Coventry on his way from Warwick to Nottingham in 1068, there’s no evidence that he had to put down an uprising as he did so.


There are reasons for the absence of documentary evidence. Coventry seems to have been particularly unlucky, or neglectful, in preserving the written record of its early history. The dissolution of the monasteries, which tore the heart out of the Tudor town, destroyed huge quantities of its earlier records.


A catastrophic fire in Birmingham Library archives in 1879 and Second World War bomb damage compounded these losses, and it has to be said that preservation of heritage has not always been a top priority with those who have ruled the modern city. So much has been lost from the early archive that serious scholarship now is too often reduced to informed speculation.


More importantly, Coventry’s rise to become one of England’s most powerful medieval towns happened fast and late. The boom town of the late fourteenth century was only just beginning to make its mark on England by the middle of the thirteenth century.


While other, much older, Midlands towns like Leicester and Worcester had already established a rich and stable archive in which their post-Conquest development can be clearly plotted, there is an echoing void where Coventry is concerned. As the Victoria County History of Warwickshire somewhat snootily put it, ‘there is little evidence for the social history of Coventry before the fourteenth century.’


Life in the late eleventh-century town remains largely a shadow play – except for the raucous, and to our eyes astonishing, chapter of conflict around the institution that Leofric and Godiva established with twenty-four monks and an abbot living under the rule of St Benedict.


Politics could well have played a role in the choice of Coventry in the first place – it clearly suited Leofric to establish a presence in a corner of Mercia fairly distant from his own power base. But it pales to nothing compared to the poisonous power struggle that erupted between the Benedictine monks of Coventry and the bishops to whom they were supposed to bow the knee in fealty.


The dispute had its origins in a new Anglo-Norman administration that favoured a clearly defined see, or diocese, in the charge of a bishop rather than a monastic foundation, however powerful and well-endowed. Coventry, because of its geographical location, fell into the Mercian see, with its episcopal centre located at Lichfield.


In the year 1075, Lanfranc, Archbishop of Canterbury, pursuing a further policy of moving episcopal sees out of villages into towns, ordered that the Mercian see should be moved from Lichfield to Chester, a much bigger town whose foundations had originally been laid by the old Roman legionary fortress.


Enter the first real villain in Coventry’s story, the rapacious Robert de Limesey, a former chaplain to William the Conqueror with powerful connections to the heart of government who was consecrated Bishop of Chester in 1086.


The wealth of Coventry’s Benedictine abbey – its manors alone were valued at £80 – caught de Limesey’s acquisitive eye early. Before his death in 1089, Archbishop Lanfranc had felt cause to warn the bishop about his treatment of the monks in Coventry, ordering him to relieve the burdens he had imposed on them and restore what he had taken from them. He had been accused of breaking into the monks’ dormitory by force, with armed men at his back, wrenching open their strong box and stealing the contents as well as horses and other goods.


But worse was to come. As the seat of his bishopric, Chester proved rather too close to the troublesome Welsh Marches for de Limesey’s comfort, and in 1102 he petitioned Pope Paschal II in person to move the see back to the Midlands – not to Lichfield, described as a poor sort of place with a poor sort of church, but to the growing town of Coventry.


The success of this petition turned the Abbey of St Mary into a cathedral. This represented something of an instant demotion for the Benedictines in Coventry, as their abbot (the first of whom had been Leofwine, thought to have been a nephew of Earl Leofric) immediately became prior, an office with somewhat less power and prestige. On top of that, they now had to come to terms with Coventry’s first Anglo-Norman bishop, a man they already had cause to complain about, setting up his power base right on their doorstep.


The twelfth-century chronicler and historian William of Malmesbury, admittedly himself a Benedictine monk, did not mince words in his judgement of de Limesey. The bishop, he charged, was an embezzler who had stolen treasures from the abbey church, scraping, from one beam supporting a shrine, silver worth a staggering 500 marks (at a time when a mark was worth two-thirds of a pound).


Instead of restoring sagging roofs, he had allowed abbey buildings to collapse, spending money on projects of his own, possibly including a new bishop’s palace. He had fed the monks inferior victuals and deprived them of learning so that they were unable to oppose his wishes.


Whatever the truth of these allegations, de Limesey clearly came from that branch of the Anglo-Norman clergy who believed that a comfortable life in this world was no disqualification from salvation in the next.


When he died in 1117, his bishopric was left vacant for four years, in what may well have been a deliberate move on the part of the king to harvest its lucrative rents, but which also gave the monks a well-earned rest from episcopal oppression.


For the ordinary folk of this modest place called Coventry, the arrival of the Benedictines in 1043 had been a milestone in the development of their town.


While other abbeys like Evesham managed to safeguard their records, details from the daily lives of the Benedictines in Coventry have been lost. All we know is how they looked, in a description set down by one of Coventry’s later historians: ‘A black coat, loose and divided down to their heels with a cowl or hood that is shorter than others use. Underneath a white woollen coat a hair shirt, with boots to the knees and heads shaved with a razor on top, called a corona.’
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A Benedictine monk from the eleventh century. (Courtesy of the Thomas Fisher Rare Book Library, University of Toronto)


Their impact, however, was immense. The presence of the abbey, with its wealth and important seigneurial connections, immediately elevated Coventry in importance. Pilgrims were attracted to its shrine of St Osburg, while the monks, their officials and servants provided a ready market for the rural and farming part of the settlement, so carefully inventoried in the Domesday Book.


A triangular-shaped market place, some 150 metres long by 100 wide, was established outside the abbey gates, at which local folk could buy and sell their produce. At the time, Warwickshire appears to have had few markets beyond the old town of Warwick, so the new market would have enticed traders and customers from a fair distance around. The foundations for Coventry’s commercial prosperity were being laid.


While the Benedictines had been instrumental in kick-starting the growth of an identifiable, urban Coventry, it was another Anglo-Norman force, this time secular, that gave it real acceleration.


Hugh d’Avranches, first Earl of Chester, nicknamed Lupus (‘The Wolf’), acquired the estates once held by Godiva after, it was said, rallying to the cause of the Conqueror’s son and heir, William Rufus, when rebellion threatened at the beginning of his reign in 1087.


Neither Hugh, his son Richard, nor grandson Ranulf I, paid much attention to Coventry, a small and insignificant land-holding in a fiefdom that ranged right across England and northern France. But the fourth earl, Ranulf II, who succeeded to the earldom in 1129, took a very different view.


Ranulf was, in the words of one chronicler, ‘a consummate warrior, glittering with arms’ whose exploits on the battlefield regularly found their way into popular street ballads. As a military man, he had a keen sense of strategy and no doubt saw the fledgling Coventry as very much part of his family’s future, in large part, perhaps, because it lay in a fertile and peaceful area, well away from the troubled frontier country of his chief power base in England, Chester.


The instinct to build was always very strong in the Normans, and a castle would have been among Ranulf’s first priorities, possibly as early as 1130. Initially it would have been a motte-and-bailey, little more than a defended mound, although exactly where it was and whether in time it became a more recognisable stone fortification is one of those Coventry uncertainties that still divide students of the place’s history.


It certainly bequeathed to us place names in the centre of modern Coventry that are clearly associated with some kind of castle-building: Broadgate, Bayley Lane, Castle Yard and even Hay Lane, from ‘haeg’ meaning enclosure rather than grass cut to feed livestock.


Archaeological excavations over the past forty years have repeatedly come across evidence of a network of twelfth-century defensive ditches that enclosed an area of up to seven acres and were up to six metres deep in places. The remains of a bakehouse discovered in what is now called Castle Yard, close to Hay Lane, have been linked to the castle, lying just inside the outer bailey or defensive perimeter.


With the important Norman strongholds of Warwick and Kenilworth so close, whatever Ranulf built was going to be modest in scale. The chronicler John Stowe, writing more than 400 years later, somewhat dismissively records the tradition that the earls of Chester had ‘a fortlet, or pile standing in the Earle’s Street’ which had long since decayed.
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A corner of modern day Castle Yard where archaeologists have found evidence of a castle bakehouse. (Mark Radford)


But the true significance of Ranulf’s castle-building is that it signals his intention to take a stake in this place called Coventry.


He also seems to have erected a small chapel, later rebuilt in the fourteenth century as the imposing St Michael’s Church, on the northern edge of his bailey. This was very close to the Benedictines’ monastic boundary and their own small chapel, first recorded in 1113 and also later reconstructed as Holy Trinity Church.


With hindsight, this looks like the opening gambit in the struggle between the prior’s half and the earl’s half of the town that seems to dominate Coventry’s pre-fourteenth-century history. Whether that struggle was as hostile and all-encompassing as historians have liked to characterise is open to doubt. But the reality of a new and powerful player in town must have troubled the Benedictines, who were, if nothing else, generally allergic to competition.


The hated Bishop de Limesey, for all his depredations, had almost certainly begun building work on the eastern end of the great cathedral church of St Mary, which was to replace the modest church of Leofric and Godiva’s time by the end of the century. The monks had also been quick to protect their position with a series of forged charters that gave them, in the name of the saintly Godiva, full rights to trade, free from outside interference, whether bishop or earl.


For the townsfolk, the presence of such powerful competing interests must have offered the prospect of lasting prosperity, particularly as it had begun to give Coventry a regional and possibly even national profile as an emerging boom town.


Their hopes must have been considerably enhanced by a charter, formally confirmed by Henry II at Marlborough in early 1182, essentially re-stating an earlier grant of liberties issued by Ranulf, possibly as early as the 1140s.


In it, the earl states that the burgesses in Coventry may hold their property in free burgage, allowing them to pass it on to their heirs, with all the laws and customs that the citizens of Lincoln enjoy, and that they should have their own court (portmanmote) in which to settle disputes between themselves and the earl.


Furthermore, they would be able to elect one of their number to represent them in their dealings with the earl, they would have the right to bring before the court errant merchants and could expect security for any loans made to the earl or his men. Finally, newcomers to the town should be free of charges and taxes for two years, from the date they started building.
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Henry II’s charter of 1182, confirming Ranulf’s earlier grant of liberties. (Herbert Collections)


The formal and legalistic language of the time perhaps obscures the remarkable nature of this charter. In effect, it marks the beginnings of civic government for Coventry. The villeins of the Domesday survey, unfree tenants who owed their feudal lord military and agricultural service at his command, were now free men holding property in their own right, with their own town court and protection in their dealings with the earl.


The rights held by their equivalents in Lincoln, then England’s fourth biggest town and another of the earl’s principal estates, were to be the benchmark, as this Coventry charter would be in turn for other towns like Nottingham.


Perhaps most importantly, the lifting of all taxes for newcomers is a clear incentive for growth, aimed at encouraging inward investment from an expanded mercantile class. There is evidence that Coventry’s population showed a marked increase around the middle of the twelfth century, and the Earl of Chester was clearly a principal promoter of it.


Sadly, just when these newly enfranchised burgesses could expect the benefits of this liberality to come rolling in, they found themselves caught up in the civil war, later dubbed the Anarchy, between Henry I’s daughter Matilda and her cousin, Stephen, Count of Mortain.


As Henry’s only surviving legitimate offspring, Matilda had a compelling claim to the throne. Through her mother, she also had Anglo-Saxon royal blood running through her veins, a distinction that her enemies among the Norman nobility were quick to seize upon, contemptuously dubbing her Godiva.


Stephen, Henry’s favourite nephew, could not match his cousin’s claim to the throne, but he was an energetic and capable soldier, widely admired for his intelligence and generous disposition. And he was a man. Many of the most influential Anglo-Norman magnates simply could not countenance the thought of England ruled by a woman.


Stephen struck the first blow, arranging to have himself crowned king at Winchester in December 1135, and by 1140 the cat-and-mouse game he was playing with Matilda, all shifting alliances, skirmishes and feints, was reaching something of a crunch.


At which point, Ranulf, Earl of Chester, having weighed carefully the strength of the competing parties, declared for Matilda. He laid siege to Lincoln Castle, overwhelmed it by a ruse – he sent his wife in to greet the lady of the house and then ambushed the guard when allowed in to ‘collect’ her – and finally captured Stephen when he arrived to lift the siege in early February 1141.


Stephen was to remain Matilda’s prisoner for most of that year, but as the tide slowly turned in his favour he was freed in a prisoner-exchange deal and Matilda found herself repeatedly under threat of capture.


In the two years that followed, a war of siege and counter-siege among the fortified towns and castles of southern England left Stephen clinging precariously to the throne, without either side being able to land a decisive blow. And it was something of a side-show when in September 1144 one of Stephen’s supporters in the Midlands, Robert Marmion, Earl of Tamworth, decided to attack Ranulf’s Coventry castle.
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Engraving of King Stephen being taken prisoner. (THP)


Marmion, the war-like scion of a proud military family, once champions to the dukes in their native Normandy, seized the partly constructed buildings of the new cathedral, booted out the monks and turned what was a building site into a fortified camp from which to besiege Ranulf’s own castle, literally no more than a stone’s throw away.


As the outraged Benedictine chronicler William of Malmesbury put it:





Robert Marmion, a ferocious and war-like man, almost unequalled for astuteness and audacity in his time, profaned the noble church (of Coventry) by locking out the servants of God and introducing to it the hired hands of the Devil, and he harassed the Earl of Chester, to whom he was particularly opposed, with frequent, heavy attacks.





So astute a soldier was Marmion that he managed to forget where he had placed some new defensive ditches. While riding out on a solo reconnaissance, he fell into one and was unhorsed. Rendered helpless by a broken thigh, he was promptly dispatched with a knife by a humble foot soldier (or even, one tradition says, a cobbler).


Centuries later, a detached skull discovered in an early archaeological excavation of the site was immediately proclaimed to be his. But the truth is that his body was taken away and buried at Polesworth in north Warwickshire, interred in unconsecrated ground as he had been excommunicated for his crimes against the Church.


The man himself may have come to a grisly end, but his small force of besiegers did manage to eject Ranulf from his castle. We have no first-hand account of how the fighting affected the townspeople – although there is evidence from a later charter that places of refuge were created for the poor ‘during the hostilities’ – but the incident must have been a setback to their hopes of a steady, and peaceful, rise to prosperity.
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